BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

STEPHANIE BOLTON

VS.

APPELLANT

NO.: 2009-TS-01288

RANDY BOLTON, JR.

APPELLEES

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

STEPHANIE BOLTON APPELLANT JOHN WEDDLE COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT POST OFFICE BOX 589 TUPELO, MISSISSIPPI 38802-0589 662-841-2692 MISS. BAR NO.:

BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

STEPHANIE BOLTON

APPELLANT

VS.

RANDY BOLTON, JR.

APPELLEES

NO.: 2009-CA-01955-COA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Procedural History
B. Factual History
V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 10
VI. ARGUMENT12
A. Standard of Review
B. The trial court erred in its modification of visitation on an interim basis
C. The trial court erred in finding that a material change in circumstances existed since
the prior decree that adversely affected the welfare of Tyler
D. The trial court erred in finding that it is in the best interest of Tyler under the
Albright test to modify custody thereby separating him form his siblings
E. The trial court erred in granting appellee credits against his vested child support
obligation
VII. CONCLUSION
VIII. CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

II. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

.

e- •

i

Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983) 12
Brand v. Brand, 482 So.2d 236, 237-38 (Miss. 1986);
Brown v. Brown, 764 So. 2d 502, 504-505 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Cornelius v. Overstreet, 757 So.2d 332 (Miss.Ct.App.2000) 19
Dorr v. Dorr, 797 So.2d 1008 (Miss.App. 2001) 11, 19
Forsythe v. Akers, 768 So. 2d 943, 948 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) 16
Franklin v. Kroush, 622 So. 2d 1256, 1257 (Miss. 1993),
Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007) 12
Holmes v. Holmes, 958 So. 2d 844 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007)
Johnson v. Johnson, 913 So.2d 368 (Miss.2005) 10, 13
McCracking v. McCracking, 776 So. 2d 691, 693 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000) 16
Mizell v. Mizell, 708 So.2d 55, 59 (Miss. 1998)
Moore v. Moore, 757 So. 2d 1043, 1050 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000)
Owens v. Owens, 950 So.2d 202 (Miss.2006)
Powell v. Powell, 976 So. 2d 358, 361-63 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)
<i>R.K. v. J.K.</i> , 946 So.2d 764, 772 (Miss. 2007)
Robison v. Lanford, 841 So. 2d 1119, 1123-24 (Miss. 2003)
Rubisoff v. Rubisoff, 242 Miss. 225, 235, 133 So.2d 534, 537 (1961) 19
Sellers v. Sellers, 638 So.2d 481, 484 (Miss.1994) 11, 17
<i>T.K. v. H.K.</i> , 24 So.3d 1055 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010)
Tanner v. Roland, 598 So.2d 783, 786-87 (Miss. 1992) 11, 20

Statutes

Miss.Code Ann.	§ 75-17-7 1	19	
----------------	-------------	----	--

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the chancellor erred in its modification of visitation on an interim basis thereby effectively modifying custody prior to the completion of the hearing on the merits and thereby placing the Appellee in a better position for permanent custody under *Albright*.
- 2. Whether the chancellor erred in finding that a material change in circumstances existed since the prior decree that adversely affected the welfare of Tyler.
- 3. Whether the chancellor erred in finding that it is in the best interest of Tyler under the *Albright* test to modify custody thereby separating him form his siblings.
- Whether the chancellor erred in giving appellee credits against his vested child support obligation.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

The parties in this action filed for divorce on or about January 3, 2002 requesting a divorce on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. The parties filed a separation child custody and property settlement agreement that was approved by the court and made a part of the final decree for divorce. Appellant was granted primary custody and control of parties minor children namely Tyler Michael Wade Ward born July 28, 1994 and Jennifer Ann Bolton born March 18, 2002, hereafter referred to as "Jenny". Elizabeth Page Ward is also in the custody of the appellant at the time of the divorce.¹ Appellant and the minor children reside in Paradise, California where they were enrolled in school at the time these proceedings began; appellee resides in Itawamba County, Mississippi with his parents. The appellee filed a petition for modification of decree on or about July 23, 2007 requesting that the custody of Tyler be modified to grant the appellee full legal and physical custody of Tyler only. Appellant's Record Excerpts at 4. Appellee alleged that there had been a substantial and material change in circumstances adversely affecting the best interest of Tyler since the separation of the parties, that Tyler's relationship with his mother has deteriorated, and that the minor child has repeatedly requested to live with his father. Id. In August of 2007, appellee, after having Libby, Tyler, and Jenny in Itawamba County for the summer, sent Libby and Jenny back to California by airplane as the parties agreed, but unbeknownst to the appellant until Jenny and Libby arrived at the airport in California, had kept Tyler in Itawamba County.

¹ Elizabeth Page Ward, age fifteen at the time of the proceedings, gave testimony at the hearing. Elizabeth, or "Libby" is a half sister to the parties children. Libby is not appellee's biological child but she considers him to be her father. T at 75.

T. at 641-642. The parties entered into an agreed order on or about August 15, 2007 wherein full custody would remain with the appellant, but the matter would be set for review the following summer. The cause came on for hearing on July 9, 2008 and on July 25, 2008. At the end of the day on July 25, 2008, testimony had not been completed. The court, on its own motion, entered an interim order at that time ordering that on an interim basis the appellee would have extended visitation with Tyler until further order of the court and that Tyler would be enrolled in the Itawamba County school system until further order of the court. The court went on to award the appellant visitation with Tyler for the upcoming Thanksgiving holiday. At the end of the proceedings, the chancellor entered an order stating that there had been a substantial and material change in circumstances since the entry of the Judgment for Divorce - Irreconcilable Differences which adversely affects the minor child and awarded the appellee primary legal and physical custody of Tyler. The court also ruled on appellant's contempt for child support issue ruling that the appellee was in contempt, but gave appellee significant credits against the child support arrearage before granting appellant a judgment.

B. Factual History

į

Appellant lives in Paradise California, having relocated there after the parties' divorce in 2003. At the time this action was filed by appellee, she lived there with Libby, Tyler, and Jenny and worked at her father's grocery store within walking distance of their home. *T.* at 15. Appellee still resides in Itawamba County, Mississippi. At the hearings held on four separate dates in 2008; two in July, and two in December, Libby, appellant, and Tyler testified regarding Tyler's accomplishments in his extra-curricular activities in

California and his musical talents. T. at 5-7, 138, 169-171. Tyler plays several instruments and was in a band in California. Libby testified that Tyler seemed happier with appellee in Mississippi, but testified that she would not want to "lose her little brother" and that she just wants her little brother to come back home. T. at 10-11, 228. Libby testified that Tyler is also happy in California because of all the activities he has there. T. at 225. Libby testified about the friction between appellant and Tyler stating that they argue over such things as Tyler performing his chores. T. at 10, 12. Libby testified that appellant sometimes left the children at home by themselves but that Libby, who is fifteen years old, was left in control and that Tyler and Jenny did what they were told and behaved. T. at 8-9. Libby stated that sometimes Tyler was given a choice to stay at home or go to the family grocery store and he most of the time stayed home. T. at 13. Libby also pointed out some ways Tyler acts more aggressively in Mississippi than in California, describing ways that he has been aggressive toward her and telling appellant over the phone "T'm not afraid of you" and "I hate you." T. at 60-61, 237-239.

Even though Tyler complained about being left at home alone or with Libby in charge, he testified that at times he chose to stay at home and he was not bothered by it. T. at 153, 183-185. Even though Tyler testified that he was afraid of appellant and he wanted to live with his father, he also testified that he loved both his parents and had never expressed to the school counselor that he was afraid of appellant. T. at 187, 196. Tyler complained about appellant yelling at him and sometimes using curse words and even stated that on one occasion, she threw a television remote at him but missed. T. at 173-174. Tyler admitted, however, that appellant had never struck him. T. at 139.

Tyler complained about seeing Richard, appellant's boyfriend, intoxicated when he came over to the house, and on one occasion playing with his musical instruments, but stated that Richard had never harmed him or any of his musical instruments. T. at 150, 169. Appellant is no longer seeing Richard. T. at 691.

Appellant testified that Tyler had never told her that he wanted to live with appellee prior to this action being filed. *T.* at 77-78, 641. Appellant learned of his decision when in August of 2007, Libby and Jenny returned home from summer visitation without Tyler. *Id.* Appellant did not believe Tyler was afraid of her. In support of her contempt of court action against appellee, appellant testified that appellee owed her over \$13,000.00 in child support arrearage.

Appellee testified that he was concerned over the children being left alone, the children's grades, and the drinking problems of Richard. Appellee apparently believed the children were being left alone because Tyler had told him so over the phone. T. at 409. Appellee has never observed any of the complaints he has against appellant at her home in California. T. at 408. Appellee denied that appellant was a bad mother and admitted that the only difference between Tyler's situation and his two sisters was that Tyler had requested to come live with him. T. at 443-444. Appellee admitted that he would not have filed a petition for modification of custody had Tyler not asked if he could live with appellee. T. at 444. Appellee admitted that he owed child support in excess of \$14,000.00 but produced Western Union transfers totaling \$2,939.00 and requested credit for it against the child support arrearage. T. at 381-387, 389-390. He admitted that these transfers did not specify the purpose of the payments. T. at 312. Appellant testified that she never received the sum of money he claimed, but possibly

received some of it. T. at 625. Appellee also requested that he be given credit against child support for airline ticket purchases and for times he resided with the appellant after their divorce. T. at 327, 391-395. The parties disagreed on these time periods.

i.

V. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The chancellor erred in its modification of visitation on an interim basis. The chancellor's interim order granting extended visitation with appellee until the case may be completed effectively modified custody of Tyler without the requisite finding that a material change in circumstances had occurred in violation of the Supreme Court's ruling in *Johnson v. Johnson*, 913 So.2d 368 (Miss.2005). Regardless of the terminology utilized, the chancellor modified the original decree as to custody without finding the requirement of a substantial and material change in circumstances adversely affecting Tyler's welfare. By awarding the appellee extended visitation, the chancellor was able to attribute the *Continuity of Care* and *School Record Albright* factors to the appellee; factors that would not have favored appellee had the chancellor not entered the *Interim Order*. Further, the chancellor separated siblings without a finding on the record to support same.

The chancellor erred in finding that a material change in circumstances existed since the prior decree that adversely affected the welfare of Tyler. To support a finding that a material change in circumstances exists that adversely affects Tyler, the law in Mississippi requires evidence of harm or danger to the child. While Tyler testified repeatedly that he desired to go live with his father, it was error for the chancellor to use Tyler's preference, an *Albright* factor, as a basis for the chancellor's finding that the requisite material change in circumstances had been met.

The chancellor erred in finding that it is in the best interest of Tyler under the *Albright* test to modify custody thereby separating him form his siblings. By granting the

modification of custody and placing Tyler with appellee on an interim and permanent basis, the chancellor separated Tyler from Jenny, his younger sister, and Libby, his older half-sister. There is a strong preference in Mississippi law for keeping siblings together unless unusual circumstances justify their separation. *Sellers v. Sellers*, 638 So.2d 481, 484 (Miss.1994). Appellant would also point out that separation of the siblings in this case, due to the long distance between the parties, is more detrimental since the siblings are not able to see each other often.

The chancellor erred in granting appellee credits against his vested child support obligation. The chancellor in the Order granting modification of custody dated January 13, 2009, found the appellee to be in contempt of court for his failure to pay child support. However, the chancellor applied equitable credits toward the unpaid child support. Under Mississippi Law, each monthly obligation that remains unpaid past its due date takes on the nature of a judgment that may not be modified by the court thereafter. *Dorr v. Dorr*, 797 So.2d 1008 (Miss.App. 2001). The child support in this case should not have been reduced by the chancellor on equitable grounds any more than the chancellor could alter or amend the underlying obligation itself once it took on the aspect of a final judgment. *Tanner v. Roland*, 598 So.2d 783, 786-87 (Miss. 1992)

VI. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

When the Supreme Court reviews domestic relations matters, the scope of review is limited by the substantial evidence/manifest error rule. *Giannaris v. Giannaris*, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007) *citing R.K. v. J.K.*, 946 So.2d 764, 772 (Miss. 2007) and *Mizell v. Mizell*, 708 So.2d 55, 59 (Miss. 1998). Therefore, the Court will "not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Id.*

"[T]he polestar consideration in child custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child." *Albright v. Albright*, 437 So.2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983)

B. The trial court erred in its modification of visitation on an interim basis.

The trial court's interim order granting "extended visitation" with appellee until the case may be completed effectively modified custody of Tyler without the requisite finding that a material change in circumstances had occurred. The hearing had not been completed and the matter had been re-set for the following December.² The Court further ordered that Tyler would be enrolled in school in Itawamba County and that the appellant would be granted Thanksgiving visitation with Tyler with her providing the cost of roundtrip travel for Tyler. *Appellant's Record Excerpts* at 21.

Regardless of the terminology utilized in the *Interim Order*, the Court, in essence, modified the original decree as to custody without finding the requirement of a substantial and material change in circumstances adversely affecting the child's welfare.

 $^{^2}$ The court made the ruling on an interim basis at the conclusion of the testimony for that day on July 25, 2008; just prior to the school year. The case was set and concluded on December 15, 2008 and December 16, 2008.

The Court in so doing abused its discretion. In Johnson v. Johnson, 913 So.2d 368 (Miss.2005), a modification of custody action was filed by Sandra Johnson seeking full custody of the parties' minor child.³ The trial court in *Johnson* found the proof offered by both parties insufficient to show a material and substantial change of circumstances that would warrant modification of custody. However, the Court adjusted the visitation schedule by awarding "primary physical visitation" to Sandra and ordered Alex Johnson, the father, to pay monthly child support. Johnson, 913 So. 2d at 370-371. The Supreme Court reversed stating that it was "unwilling to hold that a chancellor may modify custody without finding the requirement of a substantial and material change in circumstances that adversely affects the child's welfare." The Court held that the chancellor abused his discretion in effectively modifying the custody arrangement by calling it visitation. Id. The trial court in the case at bar made a similar ruling by modifying custody under an interim order. The trial court made no finding that a material change in circumstances adversely affecting the welfare of Tyler had occurred. In fact, neither the transcript of the trial court's decision to grant extended visitation nor the Interim Order itself states a basis for the modification. T. at 248-251, Record Excerpts at 21. Furthermore, the parties were already operating under a visitation schedule that was established by agreement in an Agreed Order filed with the trial court on August 16th, 2007. Neither party had requested modification of the visitation on a temporary basis after the entry of that order.

By awarding the appellee extended visitation, the chancellor was able to attribute the *Continuity of Care* and *School Record Albright* factors to the appellee; factors that

³ Sandra and Alex Johnson had been exercising joint legal and physical custody under the prior decree.

would not have favored appellee had the chancellor not entered the *Interim Order*. See *Record Excerpts* at 57-59. Considered another way, the trial court's basis in awarding the modification of custody to appellee under the *Albright* analysis was the product of its own abuse of discretion.

The Court also abused it's discretion in ordering a separation of the siblings without evidentiary support as required by *Owens v. Owens*, 950 So.2d 202 (Miss.2006). "In the absence of some unusual and compelling circumstance dictating otherwise, it is not in the best interest of children [siblings] to be separated." *Id* at 206.

C. The trial court erred in finding that a material change in circumstances existed since the prior decree that adversely affected the welfare of Tyler.

In early August of 2007 after the end of summer visitation with appellee, appellee had sent Libby and Jenny on the airplane back to California at the end of the summer, but without consulting appellant, held Tyler in Itawamba County. *T.* at 641-642. On August 15, 2007, the parties entered into an *Agreed Order* that was filed with the Court on August 16th, 2010 wherein the parties agreed that custody of Tyler and Jenny would remain with appellant and Tyler was sent back to California with appellant. *Record Excerpts* at 18. The order specified some needed modifications to visitation, and set the case for review the following summer.

The Chancellor found that a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child existed:

based upon the child's frequently being left home alone by the mother, the mother's frequent yelling and scolding of the child, the older sibling's testimony concerning the deteriorated relationship between the mother and the child and the need for the child to have another place to live, the child's being increasingly unhappy, miserable and isolated because of the breakdown in the relationship between mother and child, and the child's testimony on multiple occasions through the two-year span of this litigation regarding his desire to no longer reside with his mother and his preference to reside primarily with his father.

Record Excerpts at 56-57.

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