CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Stephanie Ann Bolton, Appellant
- 2. Randy Wayne Bolton, Appellee
- 3. John D. Weddle, attorney for Appellant
- 4. D. Kirk Tharp, attorney for Appellee
- 5. R. Shane McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee
- 6. Nicole H. McLaughlin, attorney for Appellee

Nicole H. McLaughlin

Attorney of record for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The Chancellor in this case determined during the middle of the proceedings that visitation was not working and that it was in the child's best interest for his father to have extended visitation during the pendency of the trial. After the conclusion of all of the evidence, the Chancellor determined that a material change in circumstances adverse to the child had occurred. The totality of the facts, including the mother's instable behavior, her yelling and scolding of the child, the deterioration in the parent/child relationship, the child's deep desire to live with his father and the child's emotional and mental state, required a finding that a material change had occurred which was adverse to Tyler.

The Court proceeded to complete an in-depth *Albright* analysis to determine which parent should have custody. The Chancellor correctly determined that the continuity of care prior to the separation and home, school and community record of the child factors weighed in favor of Randy Bolton having custody. None of the *Albright* factors favored the mother. Therefore, even if these two factors favored her, the other factors favored Randy. The Chancellor also carefully examined the separation of the siblings and concluded that any effect it might have on the

children was greatly outweighed by the child's best interest for custody to be with his father.

The Chancellor properly determined that it was in Tyler's best interest for custody to be modified to his father.

Finally, the Chancellor properly credited Randy for amounts he paid toward child support and for times that he actually supported Stephanie and the children. There was substantial evidence of the amounts Randy paid by Western Union, the times that he and Stephanie lived together after their divorce and he supported the children, his purchase of plane tickets that Stephanie failed to reimburse him for and for amounts he paid while Tyler lived with him in Mississippi. The Chancellor was correct in providing Randy with these credits against the amount he owed.

The Chancellor's findings are supported by substantial, indeed overwhelming, evidence in the record and are no abuse of discretion. Accordingly, the Chancellor's decision should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT I.

THE CHANCELLOR ACTED WITHIN HER DISCRETION WHEN SHE PROPERLY EXTENDED RANDY'S VISITATION OF TYLER ON AN INTERIM BASIS.

The Chancellor's decision that visitation was not working and that it was in Tyler's best interests to have extended visitation with Randy was made after substantial credible evidence was presented and was within her discretion. Child visitation and restrictions placed upon it are within the discretion of the Chancery Court. Christian v. Wheat, 876 So. 2d 341, 345 (Miss. 2004). The Chancellor is charged with the responsibility to protect the children and determine what visitation is in their best interest and great deference is given to the Chancellor's decision on these matters. Newsom v. Newsom, 557 So. 2d 511, 517 (Miss. 1990). On visitation issues, as with other issues concerning children, the Chancery Court enjoys a large amount of discretion in making its determination of what is in the best interest of the child. Haddon v. Haddon, 806 So. 2d 1017, 1020 (Miss. 2000). Where a Chancellor has made factual findings on the matter of visitation, an Appellate Court should not disturb those findings unless (1) his findings are not supported by substantial credible evidence, (2) he has either committed manifest error, or (3) he applied an erroneous legal standard. Bredemeier v. Jackson, 689 So. 2d 770, 775 (Miss. 1997).

Before modifying a current visitation arrangement, the Chancellor must find that the prior decree providing for visitation "isn't working and that it is in the best interest of the children that the current decree be altered." *Shepherd v. Shepherd*, 769 So. 2d 242, 245 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The Mississippi Supreme Court announced in *Sistrunk* that a party does not have to show a material change in circumstances to modify visitation. *Sistrunk v. McKenzie*, 455 So. 2d 768, 770 (Miss. 1984). A Chancellor may modify visitation upon a showing that the visitation rights

in place are not working and are not in the best interest of the child. Olson v. Olson, 799 So. 2d 927, 929 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001); Haddon v. Haddon, 806 So. 2d 1017, 1019-20 (Miss. 2000).

In *Newsom*, a mother's instability and previous abduction of the children in defiance of the court order was ample justification for restricted visitation by a Chancellor. *Newsom*, 557 So. 2d at 517. In *Johnson*, the Chancellor found after the conclusion of the trial that there had been no material change in circumstances warranting a modification of custody. *Johnson v. Johnson*, 913 So. 2d 368, 370 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). The Chancellor's order modified visitation instead of custody. *Johnson*, 913 So. 2d at 370. However, the Court of Appeals held that the Chancellor in essence modified custody without a finding of a material change. *Id.* at 371.

On July 25, 2008, Chancellor Mask extended Randy's visitation of Tyler on an interim basis until the conclusion of the trial. (C.P. p. 72-74). Chancellor Mask extended Randy's visitation after hearing testimony from Elizabeth "Libby" Ward two times, Stephanie Bolton and Tyler Ward. (T. p. 250-1). Randy's visitation was extended until the Court could finalize the case due to the physical distance between the parties, Mississippi and California. (T. p. 251). Chancellor Mask specifically stated that she was not making a custody determination because she had not fully heard the case, but that she had "to make a decision concerning" visitation. (T. p. 250). At this point in the proceedings, there was sufficient testimony for the Chancellor to determine that visitation was not working and it was in the best interest of Tyler to have extended visitation with his father and remain in Mississippi.

At the time that the Chancellor modified visitation, there had already been ample evidence of Stephanie's instability and violent temper and that visitation was simply not working. Stephanie repeatedly told the children they would never see their father again and

threatened his visitation rights. Further, the children were only allowed to visit their father when their mother approved it.

There was also substantial testimony from Libby and Tyler explaining Stephanie's instability and violent temper toward Tyler. Stephanie would cuss and yell at Tyler daily, make him cry and threaten to hit him. At this point in the proceedings, Chancellor Mask had sufficient evidence before her to find that visitation was not working and that it was in Tyler's best interest to modify visitation on a temporary basis until the conclusion of the proceedings.

Appellant in her brief relies heavily on *Johnson*, comparing what the Chancellor did there to this case. However, *Johnson* is significantly different. In *Johnson*, the court decided to modify visitation at the conclusion of the proceedings after finding that there was no substantial material change to modify custody. Here, the court properly modified visitation only on an interim basis while waiting on the conclusion of the proceedings and after hearing a significant portion of the evidence. The court here stated specifically in her ruling that she was not, at the time, making a decision concerning custody because she had not fully heard the case.

Appellant further argues that by extending Randy's visitation, the Chancellor essentially gave him an advantage in the *Albright* analysis for determining custody. Appellant argues that she would have been favored for the *Continuity of Care* and *School Record* factors in the analysis but for Randy's extended visitation. (*See* Appellant's Brief at p. 13-14). However, none of the other factors favored her. As discussed further below, the *Albright* analysis would have resulted in modifying custody to Randy regardless of these two factors.

Chancellor Mask used her discretion after listening to the substantial credible evidence to determine that the prior visitation decree was not working and that it was in Tyler's best interest that he remain on extended visitation with his father during the pendency of the proceedings.

The Chancellor's decision should be affirmed since it was based on substantial credible evidence, the correct legal standard was applied and there was no manifest error.

ARGUMENT II.

THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY FOUND THAT A SUBSTANTIAL AND MATERIAL CHANGE IN CIRCUMSTANCES ADVERSE TO TYLER HAD OCCURRED.

After hearing the substantial credible evidence, the Chancellor properly found that there had been a material change in circumstances adverse to Tyler's best interests. In regards to modification of custody, the Mississippi Supreme Court has stated: "the prerequisites to a child custody modification are: (1) proving a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and (2) finding that the best interest of the child requires the change of custody." *Smith v. Jones*, 654 So. 2d 480, 486 (Miss. 1995). The 'totality of the circumstances' must be considered. *Ash v. Ash*, 622 So. 2d 1264, 1266 (Miss. 1993); *Tucker v. Tucker*, 453 So. 2d 1294, 1297 (Miss. 1984); *Brocato v. Brocato*, 731 So. 2d 1138, 1141 (Miss. 1999). The Mississippi Court of Appeals provided the following guidance for chancellors: "When considering a modification of child custody, the proper approach is to first identify the specific change in circumstances, and then analyze and apply the *Albright* factors in light of that change." *Sturgis v. Sturgis*, 792 So. 2d 1020, 1025 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001). In order to clarify the type or magnitude of material change that warrants a modification of custody,

our supreme court explained that when the totality of the circumstances display a material change in the overall living conditions in which the child is found which are likely to remain changed in the foreseeable future and such change adversely affects the child, a modification of custody is legally proper.

Fletcher v. Shaw, 800 So. 2d 1212, 1215-1216 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)(citing Kavanaugh v. Carraway, 435 So. 2d 697, 700 (Miss. 1983)).

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that behavior of a parent which clearly causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of a child is sufficient for modifying custody. *Ballard v. Ballard*, 434 So. 2d 1357, 1360 (Miss. 1983). The Court of Appeals stated in *Hinton* that a situation could exist "where a child, of some age over twelve years, could articulate compelling reasons as to why a change of custody would be in that child's best interest to the extent that the child's preference, supported by those articulated reasons, would warrant some modification." *Best v. Hinton*, 838 So. 2d 306, 309 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). In *Jones*, the Court found a material change in circumstances where the daughter expressed her strong desire to live with her mother, the daughter was so unhappy in the father's home that it was psychologically unhealthy for her and the mother's home became a better option for the child. *Jones v. Jones*, 878 So. 2d 1061, 1065 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004).

After considering all of the evidence presented at the four (4) day trial, the Court found that a material change in circumstances which adversely affected the welfare of Tyler existed. (C.P. 145). The Court based the material change on the following facts that were prevalent throughout the trial:

the child's frequently being left home alone by the mother, the mother's frequent yelling and scolding of the child, the older sibling's testimony concerning the deteriorated relationship between the mother and the child and the need for the child to have another place to live, the child's being increasingly unhappy, miserable and isolated because of the breakdown in the relationship between mother and child, and the child's testimony on multiple occasions through the two-year span of this litigation regarding his desire to no longer reside with his mother and his preference to reside primarily with his father.

(C.P. p. 145-6). There was extensive testimony from Libby and Tyler about his unhappiness and emotional state, the deterioration in his relationship with his mother and his fear of his mother. Further, Tyler, on numerous occasions, told the Court that he desired to live with his father and why a change in custody to his father would be in his best interests. The Chancellor reviewed

the totality of the circumstances before finding a material change adverse to Tyler occurred. Following *Hinton*, the Court listened to Tyler's testimony where he expressed a desire to live with his father and also provided compelling reasons for a change in custody. The Chancellor weighed Tyler's testimony along with the other evidence prior to determining a material change occurred. The Chancellor heard about Stephanie's unstable behavior, her cussing and yelling at Tyler daily, his crying and fear of her, her work schedule and time spent with her boyfriend instead of her kids, her boyfriend's alcohol problems and Tyler's preference to live with his father. Libby testified specifically that Tyler and Stephanie's relationship significantly deteriorated recently. She stated that Tyler was simply not happy in California. The Chancellor determined that these problems were likely to remain in the foreseeable future. Any one of these facts may not be enough to rise to the level of a material change, however, considering them in total along with the effect these issues were having on Tyler's mental/emotional state were more than sufficient for the Chancellor to use her discretion in finding a material change adverse to Tyler.

ARGUMENT III.

THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ABUSE HER DISCRETION IN MODIFYING CUSTODY AFTER CONDUCTING A THOROUGH ALBRIGHT ANALYSIS.

The Chancellor analyzed all of the facts and conducted a thorough *Albright* analysis to correctly find physical custody should be modified to Randy. Of course, the polestar consideration in making a custody determination must be the best interest of the child. *Albright*, 437 So. 2d at 1005. The Court in *Albright* set out several factors which should be considered in determining the child's best interest. *Albright*, 437 So. 2d at 1005. However, as one commentator has noted "the difficult question of custody between two fit parents can never be reduced to a formula. Each case is different – judges are given great discretion to determine the

arrangement that best serves the needs of a particular child." DEBORAH H. BELL, BELL ON MISSISSIPPI FAMILY LAW § 5.02 (1st ed. 2005).

After finding a material change in circumstances adverse to the interests of the child, the Chancellor properly conducted an *Albright* analysis to determine whether a change in custody was warranted. A summary of the Chancellor's *Albright* analysis is as follows:

- 1. Age, health and sex of child: The Chancellor found that this factor slightly favored the father with regard to the child's gender.
- 2. Continuity of care prior to the separation: The Chancellor found that this factor previously favored the mother when Tyler lived in California, but at the time of the analysis, this factor favored the father.
- 3. Best parenting skills: The Chancellor found that this factor favored the father due to the mother's poor judgment in communicating with Tyler and delegating responsibility to the fifteen year old daughter during the many times when the mother was absent from the home.
- 4. Willingness and capacity to provide care for child: This factor favored neither party.
- 5. Employment of the parents and responsibilities of employment: This factor favored neither party.
- 6. Physical and mental health and age of the parents: This factor favored Randy due to Stephanie's instability.
- 7. Emotional ties of the parent/child: This factor slightly favored Randy because the relationship between Tyler and Stephanie had weakened considerably.
- 8. Moral fitness factor: This factor favored neither party.
- 9. Home, school and community record of the child: This factor favored Randy because Tyler's grades improved while he was in Mississippi, he attends Church in Mississippi and has a more extensive connection with Mississippi.
- 10. Preference of the child: This factor strongly favors Randy as Tyler testified on multiple times about his desire to live with his father.
- 11. Stability of home environment: This factor favored neither party.
- 12. Other relevant factors: The Chancellor considered the separation of the siblings and the effect it had on the family.

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